
         

 

 

WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

 

CITY OF NORTH PORT 
SARASOTA COUNTY 
AUDIT COMMITTEE & 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
MAY 9, 2024 
10:00 A.M. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.westvillagesid.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



 

 

AGENDA 
WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

Chambers Room – City of North Port 
4970 City Hall Boulevard 
North Port, Florida 34286 

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING 
May 9, 2024 

10:00 a.m. 
 
 
A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Consider Approval of RFP Documents………………………………………………………..Page 2  

E. Comments 

F. Adjourn 

 



Page 1



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
 

District Auditing Services for Fiscal Year 2024 and four (4) Additional Optional Annual 
Renewals 

North Port and unincorporated Sarasota County, Florida 
 

INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS 
 

SECTION 1. DUE DATE.  Sealed proposals must be received no later than 2:00 p.m. on 
June 3, 2024, at the offices of District Manager, located at c/o Special District Services, Inc. 2501 
A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410. Proposals will be publicly opened at that time. 
 

SECTION 2. FAMILIARITY WITH THE LAW.  By submitting a proposal, the Proposer is 
assumed to be familiar with all federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations 
that in any manner affect the work.  Ignorance on the part of the Proposer will in no way relieve 
it from responsibility to perform the work covered by the proposal in compliance with all such 
laws, ordinances and regulations. 

 
SECTION 3. QUALIFICATIONS OF PROPOSER.  The contract, if awarded, will only be 

awarded to a responsible Proposer who is qualified by experience and licensing to do the work 
specified herein.  The Proposer shall submit with its proposal satisfactory evidence of experience 
in similar work and show that it is fully prepared to complete the work to the satisfaction of the 
District. 
 

SECTION 4. SUBMISSION OF ONLY ONE PROPOSAL.   Proposers shall be disqualified, and 
their proposals rejected if the District has reason to believe that collusion may exist among the 
Proposers, the Proposer has defaulted on any previous contract or is in arrears on any previous 
or existing contract, or for failure to demonstrate proper licensure and business organization. 
 

SECTION 5. SUBMISSION OF PROPOSAL.  Submit one (1) hardcopy and one (1) electronic 
copy on a flash drive of their proposal, and other requested attachments at the time and place 
indicated herein, which shall be enclosed in an opaque sealed envelope, marked with the title 
“Auditing Services – West Villages Improvement District” on the face of it. 
 

SECTION 6. MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL.  Proposals may be modified or withdrawn 
by an appropriate document duly executed and delivered to the place where proposals are to be 
submitted at any time prior to the time and date the proposals are due.  No proposal may be 
withdrawn after opening for a period of ninety (90) days. 
 

SECTION 7. PROPOSAL DOCUMENTS.   The proposal documents shall consist of the notice 
announcing the request for proposals, these instructions, the Evaluation Criteria Sheet, and a 
proposal with all required documentation pursuant to Section 12 of these instructions (“Proposal 
Documents”).  
 

Page 2



SECTION 8. PROPOSAL.  In making its proposal, each Proposer represents that it has 
read and understands the Proposal Documents and that the proposal is made in accordance 
therewith. 
 

SECTION 9. BASIS OF AWARD/RIGHT TO REJECT.  The District reserves the right to reject 
any and all proposals, make modifications to the work, and waive any informalities or 
irregularities in proposals as it is deemed in the best interests of the District. 
 

SECTION 10. CONTRACT AWARD.  Within fourteen (14) days of receipt of the Notice of 
Award from the District, the Proposer shall enter into and execute a Contract (engagement letter) 
with the District. 
 

SECTION 11. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  Nothing herein shall be construed as or constitute 
a waiver of the District’s limited waiver of liability contained in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, 
or any other statute or law. 
 

SECTION 12. MISCELLANEOUS.  All proposals shall include the following information in 
addition to any other requirements of the proposal documents. 
 

A. List the position or title of all personnel to perform work on the District audit.  
Include resumes for each person listed; list years of experience in present position 
for each party listed and years of related experience. 

 
B. Describe proposed staffing levels, including resumes with applicable 

certifications. 
 
C. Three references from projects of similar size and scope.  The Proposer should 

include information relating to the work it conducted for each reference as well 
as a name, address and phone number of a contact person.  

 
D. The lump sum cost of the provision of the services under the proposal, plus the 

lump sum cost of four (4) annual renewals. 
 

SECTION 13. PROTESTS.  In accordance with the District’s Rules of Procedure, any 
protest regarding the Proposal Documents, must be filed in writing, at the offices of the District 
Manager, within seventy-two (72) calendar hours (excluding Saturday, Sunday, and state holidays) 
after the receipt of the Proposal Documents.  The formal protest setting forth with particularity 
the facts and law upon which the protest is based shall be filed within seven (7) calendar days 
(including Saturday, Sunday, and state holidays) after the initial notice of protest was filed.  Failure 
to timely file a notice of protest or failure to timely file a formal written protest shall constitute a 
waiver of any right to object or protest with respect to the aforesaid Proposal Documents. 
 

SECTION 14. EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS.  The criteria to be used in the evaluation of 
proposals are presented in the Evaluation Criteria Sheet, contained within the Proposal 
Documents.   
  

Page 3



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
AUDITOR SELECTION 

EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 

 
1.  Ability of Personnel.       (20 Points) 
 
(E.g., geographic location of the firm’s headquarters or permanent office in relation to the project; 
capabilities and experience of key personnel; present ability to manage this project; evaluation of 
existing workload; proposed staffing levels, etc.) 
 
2.  Proposer’s Experience.       (20 Points) 
 
(E.g. past record and experience of the Proposer in similar projects; volume of work previously 
performed by the firm; past performance for other or current Community Development District(s) 
or Special District(s) in other contracts; character, integrity, reputation of Proposer, etc.) 
 
3.  Understanding of Scope of Work.    (20 Points) 
 
Extent to which the proposal demonstrates an understanding of the District’s needs for the 
services requested. 
 
4. Ability to Furnish the Required Services.    (20 Points) 
 
Extent to which the proposal demonstrates the adequacy of Proposer’s financial resources and 
stability as a business entity necessary to complete the services required. 
 
5. Price.        (20 Points)*** 
 
Points will be awarded based upon the lowest total proposal for rendering the services and the 
reasonableness of the proposal. 
 
Total         (100 Points) 
 

 

***Alternatively, the Board may choose to evaluate firms without considering price, in which 
case the remaining categories would be assigned 25 points each. 

Page 4



WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT  
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR ANNUAL AUDIT SERVICES 

 
The West Villages Improvement District hereby requests proposals for annual financial auditing 
services.  The proposal must provide for the auditing of the District’s financial records for the fiscal 
year ending September 30, 2024, with an option for four (4) additional optional annual renewals.  
The District is a local unit of special-purpose government created under Chapter 189, Florida 
Statutes, for the purpose of financing, constructing, and maintaining public infrastructure.  The 
District is located in the city of North Port and unincorporated Sarasota County, Florida.  The final 
contract will require that, among other things, the audit for the fiscal year ending September 30, 
2024, be completed no later than June 30, 2025. 
 
The auditing entity submitting a proposal must be duly licensed under Chapter 473, Florida 
Statutes, and be qualified to conduct audits in accordance with “Government Auditing 
Standards,” as adopted by the Florida Board of Accountancy.   Audits shall be conducted in 
accordance with Florida Law and particularly Section 218.39, Florida Statutes, and the rules of the 
Florida Auditor General.   
 
Proposal packages, which include evaluation criteria and instructions to proposers, are available 
from the District Manager at the address and telephone number listed below.   
 
Proposers must provide one (1) hardcopy and one (1) electronic copy on a flash drive of their 
proposal to Jeff Walker, 2501 A Burns Road Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 in an envelope 
marked on the outside “Auditing Services, West Villages Improvement District.” Proposals must 
be received by 2:00 p.m. on Monday, June 3, 2024, at the address provided.  Please direct all 
questions regarding this Notice to the District Manager. 
 
WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

www.westvillagesid.org 

PUBLISH:  SARASOTA HERALD TRIBUNE   05/10/24 

 
 

Page 5



 
AGENDA 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
Chambers Room – City of North Port 

4970 City Hall Boulevard 
North Port, Florida 34286 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
& ATTORNEY-CLIENT SESSION 

May 9, 2024 
10:00 a.m. 

 
 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication………………………………………………………………………...............................Page 8 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Discussion Regarding Public Decorum at Board Meetings…………………………………………………...Page 9 

E. Comments from the Public on All Agenda Items 

F. Approval of Minutes 

1. March 5, 2024 Master Irrigation Presentation Workshop Minutes……………………………………….Page 10 

2. March 21, 2024 2024 Irrigation Rate Study Workshop Minutes…………………………………………Page 11 

3. April 11, 2024 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes……………………………………...Page 12 

G. Attorney-Client Session Relative to Litigation……………………………………………………………..Page 33 

H. General District Matters 

I. Unit of Development 1 

1. Discussion Regarding Invoice to Talon Towing Regarding Sidewalk Damage 

2. Consider Approval of Change Order No. 9 between the District and the Demoya Inc. for Wellen 
Park Blvd Roundabout and US 41/State Road 45 Improvement Project…………………………………Page 34 

3. Discussion Regarding FEMA 

J. Unit of Development 3 

1. Consider Resolution 2024-15 – Indemnifying District Counsel Whelan Regarding Irrigation Lawsuit…Page 36 

2. Discussion Regarding Letter to/from Englewood Water District Regarding Termination of Reclaimed 
Water Agreement………………………………………………………………………………………….Page 38 

K. Unit of Development 6 

1. Discussion Regarding District Wide Irrigation Water Allocations 

L. Unit of Development 10 

1. Consider Resolution 2024-16 – Ratifying Series 2024 Bonds……………………………………………Page 53 

M. Administrative Matters 

1. District Engineer 

 Consider Ratification of Change Order No. 1 between the District and Ajax Paving for Claymore 
Road Resurfacing Project……………………………………………………………………………...Page 55 

2. District Attorney 

3. District Operations Manager 

 Discussion Regarding Phase 1 SWFWMD Restrictions 

 Discussion Regarding Metering of District Property 

 

 

Page 6



 

4. District Manager 

 Records Management Memo and Form for Approval………………………………………………...Page 58 
 Announce Landowners Meeting – June 14, 2024 
 Discussion Regarding Legal Fee Charges for Multiple Commission of Ethics Complaints 

N. Board Member Comments 

O. Adjourn 

 

Page 7



Publication Date
2024-04-26

Subcategory
Miscellaneous Notices

NOTICE OF AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING AND NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
The Board of Supervisors of the West Villages Improvement District will hold an Audit Committee Meeting on
May 9, 2024, at 10:00 a.m., at the Commission Chambers located at 4970 City Hall Blvd, North Port, Florida
34286. The Audit Committee will review, discuss, evaluate, and rank any proposals the District receives
pursuant to solicitations for auditing services. Immediately following the Audit Committee meeting, the Board
of Supervisors of the District will hold its regular meeting to consider any and all business which may properly
come before it.
The meetings are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Florida law.
One or both of the meetings may be continued to a date, time, and place to be speci�ed on the record at such
meeting. A copy of the agenda for these meetings may be obtained by contacting the District Manager,
Special District Services, Inc., 2501A Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida, 33410, via email at
wcrosley@sdsinc.org or via telephone at (941) 244-2703.
There may be occasions when one or more Supervisors will participate by telephone. Pursuant to provisions
of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special accommodations to participate in these
meetings is asked to advise the District Manager, at least 48 hours before the meetings. If you are hearing or
speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service at 7-1-1 or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY), or 1-800-955-
8770 (Voice), who can aid you in contacting the District Manager.
A person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered at the
meeting is advised that such person will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person
may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence
upon which the appeal is to be based.
William Crosley
District Manager
WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
www.westvillagesid.org
PUBLISH: SARASOTA HERALD TRIBUNE 04/26/24

Page 8



Page 9



Page 1 of 1 
 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
MASTER IRRIGATION PRESENTATION WORKSHOP 

MARCH 5, 2024 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The March 5, 2024, Master Irrigation Presentation Workshop began at 1:00 p.m. in the Public Safety Building 
located, 19955 Preto Boulevard, Venice, Florida 34293. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed the West Villages Improvement District Notice of Master 
Irrigation Presentation Workshop had been published in the Sarasota Herald-Tribune on March 5, 2024. 
 
C. ROLL CALL 
 
The following staff and consultants present: 
 
District Manager William Crosley Special District Services, Inc. 
District Operations Manager Ryan Johanneman  Special District Services, Inc. 
District Engineer  Giacomo Licari Dewberry Inc.  

 
Also in attendance was Hydrology Consultant, David Kelly of Respec Company, LLC 
 
Those that signed in were:  
 
Rick Berschwinger, John Meisel, Diane Titone, Louis Adams, Craig Thornton, Jeffrey Gay, Rich Bando, Mitch 
Farah, Todd Moffatt, Richard Berrios, Gina Chevannes, and Rebecca Beasley.   
 
Mr. David Kelly, the District’s hydrology consultant from Respec Company, LLC, provided basic explanation 
and background on the water use permit and history that serves the District’s Unit of Development No. 6 master 
irrigation system of improvements. The presentation provided the irrigation quality water demands and the 
permitted sources of groundwater, reclaimed water and storm water and future development demands. Mr. 
Licari also presented an overview of the improvements included within the scope of the District’s master 
irrigation system of improvements, including major transmission lines, pump station locations, and well 
withdrawal site locations. WVID Operations Manager Ryan Johanneman and District Manager William Crosley 
also provided input.  The need for irrigation water conservation was also stressed during the presentation.  
 
There were several questions from attendees, which were answered by District staff and consultants.  District 
staff noted that the PowerPoint presentation will be posted on the District website. 
 
D. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further discussion, the Workshop was adjourned at 2:35 p.m.  
 
 
 
 
_____________________________  ______________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chair/Vice Chair 
 

Page 10



Page 1 of 1 
 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
2024 IRRIGATION RATE STUDY WORKSHOP 

MARCH 21, 2024 
 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The March 21, 2024, 2024 Irrigation Rate Study Workshop began at began at 1:00 p.m. in the Public Safety 
Building located, 19955 Preto Boulevard, Venice, Florida 34293. 
 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed the notice of West Villages Improvement District Notice of 
Irrigation Rate Study Workshop had been published in the Sarasota Herald-Tribune on March 21, 2024. 
 
C. ROLL CALL 
 
The following were present: 
 
 
District Manager William Crosley Special District Services, Inc. 
District Operations Manager Ryan Johanneman  Special District Services, Inc. 
District Engineer  Giacomo Licari Dewberry Inc.  

   
Also in attendance was Irrigation Water Rate Consultant, Bryan Mantz of GovRates Inc.  
 
Those that signed in were:  
 
Mitch Farah, Shawn Bray, Bob Preisler, Joan Preisler, Frank Falsetti, Cathy Hamby, Gina Chevannes, John 
Meisel, Bob Hughes, Steve Lewis, Jim Cranston, Neil Brady, Darlene Giudice, Kit Land, Linda Olson 
Colombo, Harriet Kahl, Pam Kantola, and Len Kantola. 
 
Mr. Bryan Mantz, the District’s irrigation water rate Consultant from GovRates Inc. provided a detailed 
PowerPoint presentation to the attendees. The presentation identified how GovRates determined the proposed 
structure and rates for the WVID’s Unit of Development No. 6 Irrigation Water utility.  

 
There were several questions from attendees, which were answered by District staff and consultants.  District 
staff noted that the PowerPoint presentation will be posted on the District website. 
 
 
 
D. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further questions or discussion, the workshop was ended at 3:00 p.m.   
 
 
_____________________________  ______________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chair/Vice Chair 
 

Page 11



 

Page 1 of 21 
 

WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
PUBLIC HEARING, REGULAR BOARD MEETING & ATTORNEY-CLIENT SESSION 

APRIL 11, 2024 
 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The April 11, 2024, Regular Board Meeting of the West Villages Improvement District (“WVID” or the 
“District”) was called to order at 10:03 a.m. in the Chambers Room of the City of North Port located at 
4970 City Hall Boulevard, North Port, Florida 34286. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed the notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the Sarasota Herald-Tribune on April 2, 2024. 
 
C. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Supervisors constituted a quorum, and it was in 
order to proceed with the meeting: 
 
Chairman John Luczynski Present in person 
Vice Chairman Steve Lewis Present in person 
Supervisor Tom Buckley Present in person 
Supervisor Christine Masney Present in person 
Supervisor John Meisel Present in person 

 
 
District Manager William Crosley Special District Services, Inc. 
District Operations Manager Ryan Johanneman Special District Services, Inc. 
District Counsel Lindsay Whelan  Kutak Rock LLP 
District Engineer Giacomo Licari Dewberry 

 
Also present were Michelle Krizen and Andrew Karmeris, of Special District Services, Inc.; Cynthia 
Wilhelm of Nabors Giblin & Nickerson, P.A., and Bryan Mantz of GovRates, Inc. 
 
D. DISCUSSION REGARDING PUBLIC DECORUM AT BOARD MEETINGS 
 
Chairman Luczynski read the public decorum policy previously approved by the Board.  
 
E. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR ALL AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Victor Dobrin stated that he appreciated the service the Supervisors provide to the District. He stated that 
he felt the District should not issue more bonds and that new communities should contribute to connections 
to the irrigation system that will serve the entire District. 
 
Pam Kantola commented that in her opinion the irrigation rate study was inaccurate and flawed and that 
there was no public opportunity afforded to residents to provide input to the irrigation study. She also stated 
that the rate study contract was to allow residents up to five opportunities to provide input, but residents 
were provided no opportunities to provide input for a 45% increase or $150,000 annually to Gran Paradiso, 

Page 12



 

Page 2 of 21 
 

and that she felt that there were glaring accounting errors in Unit 6, which inflated developer deficit funding 
which, in turn, were used to justify increasing irrigation rates to residents. 
 
Len Kantola thanked John Meisel for his service to the District and stated that he was looking forward to a 
resident elected Board.  
 
F. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 1.  March 11, 2024, Contractor Prequalification for Construction and Maintenance Services 
Committee Meeting 
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Mr. Buckley approving the minutes of the March 11, 
2024, Contractor Prequalification for Construction and Maintenance Services Committee Meeting, amended 
to reflect the AMC Contracting bond limit to $700,000. That MOTION carried unanimously. 
 
 2.  March 14, 2024, Regular Board Meeting 
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Chairman Luczynski and passed unanimously 
approving the minutes of the March 14, 2024, Regular Board Meeting, as presented. 
 
G. ATTORNEY-CLIENT SESSION RELATIVE TO GRAN PARADISO HOA IRRIGATION 
LITIGATION 
 
Ms. Whelan advised that the Attorney-Client Session was not needed at this time. 
 
H. GENERAL DISTRICT MATTERS 
 1.  Consider Resolution No. 2024-09 – Adopting Defense and Indemnification – Supervisor 
Luczynski 
 
Ms. Whelan explained, pursuant to Resolution 2016-08, the District can indemnify the Supervisors and staff 
for legal or administrative actions that have been initiated against them relative to their service as a Board 
Supervisor or staff member. The four Supervisors listed in the agenda package have been notified of an 
administrative action filed against them and have notified the District of a request for indemnification in 
accordance with Resolution 2016-08. Copies of the correspondence have been forwarded to the District’s 
insurance carrier to process and review.  
 
Mr. Meisel asked why the District waited for a response from the insurance company prior to considering 
his indemnification resolution when he previously requested indemnification for a complaint filed against 
him. 
 
Mr. Lewis stated that the District waited for a response from the insurance company prior to considering 
Mr. Meisel’s indemnification request because his actions appeared to not relate to his role as a Supervisor.  
 
Ms. Whelan also responded that the same process was followed for Mr. Meisel that is being followed here 
but upon the initial consideration of his indemnification resolution, and at the request of the Board, the 
District sought advice from the insurance company to see if it would be a covered claim in advance of the 
Board making a decision on the indemnification request. She recalled that the Supervisors and residents 
took issue with John Meisel’s indemnification resolution regarding whether or not his actions were take 
within his role as a Board Supervisor versus private actions taken as an individual. Based on that inquiry, 
it was realized that the insurance company’s procedure is to wait until the conclusion of whatever the action 

Page 13



 

Page 3 of 21 
 

was, and to decide at that time whether the person was acting in a public versus private capacity, assuming 
there was no finding of a violation of law. 
 
Resolution No. 2024-09 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-09 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT PROVIDING FOR THE DEFENSE AND 
INDEMNIFICATION OF A BOARD MEMBER; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY 
CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney adopting Resolution No. 2024-09, as 
presented, and passed on a vote of 3 to 1 with Chairman Luczynski abstaining and Mr. Meisel dissenting. 
 
 2.  Consider Resolution No. 2024-10 – Adopting Defense and Indemnification – Supervisor 
Lewis 
 
Resolution No. 2024-10 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT PROVIDING FOR THE DEFENSE AND 
INDEMNIFICATION OF A BOARD MEMBER; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY 
CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN 

 
A MOTION was made by Chairman Luczynski, seconded by Ms. Masney adopting Resolution No. 2024-
10, as presented, and passed on a vote of 3 to 1 with Mr. Lewis abstaining and Mr. Meisel dissenting. 
 
 3.  Consider Resolution No. 2024-11 – Adopting Defense and Indemnification – Supervisor 
Masney 
 
Resolution No. 2024-11 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT PROVIDING FOR THE DEFENSE AND 
INDEMNIFICATION OF A BOARD MEMBER; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY 
CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Buckley, seconded by Mr. Lewis adopting Resolution No. 2024-11, as 
presented, and passed on a vote of 3 to 1 with Ms. Masney abstaining and Mr. Meisel dissenting. 
 
 4.  Consider Resolution No. 2024-12 – Adopting Defense and Indemnification – Supervisor 
Buckley 
 
Resolution No. 2024-12 was presented, entitled: 

Page 14



 

Page 4 of 21 
 

 
RESOLUTION 2024-12 

 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT PROVIDING FOR THE DEFENSE AND 
INDEMNIFICATION OF A BOARD MEMBER; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY 
CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney adopting Resolution No. 2024-12, as 
presented, and upon being put to a vote, the MOTION carried 3 to 1 with Mr. Buckley abstaining and Mr. 
Meisel dissenting. 
 
Ms. Whelan advised that all of the named Supervisors elected to retain the services of Andrew Salzman at 

Unice Salzman Jensen P.A., for which there was already a fee agreement with the District and each 
Supervisor in place. The agreements are broad and allow for continuing services. As a result, the existing 
agreements with Unice Salzman Jensen P.A. will be relied upon for these actions as well.  
 
 5.  Receive Correspondence from Englewood Water District (EWD) 
 
Ms. Whelan stated that, as has been discussed many times over the past few years, Englewood Water 
District (EWD) sent notice to WVID on March 27, 2019, regarding its intent to terminate the interlocal 
agreement for reclaimed water between WVID and EWD (EWD Agreement), which termination became 
effective March 27, 2024. Based on discussions that have occurred and comments made during public 
outreach meetings on the irrigation rates, particularly false statements, inaccuracies, and confusion 
regarding the genesis of that notice, EWD sent WVID the letter enclosed in your agenda package that she 
believes is an attempt to clarify their position of what actually happened, historically, regarding the 
termination of the EWD Agreement and EWD’s willingness to enter into a new agreement with WVID in 
the future regarding the provision of reclaimed water.  
 
Mr. Meisel asked Ms. Whelan if she was current counsel at the time the letter of termination was received 
by EWD. Ms. Whelan confirmed that either she or one of her colleagues served as District Counsel in 2019.  
 
Mr. Meisel asked if she or one of her colleagues looked at the letter of termination to determine the legality 
of it. Ms. Whelan asked in what respect Mr. Meisel was referring to, as EWD sent a termination letter 
pursuant to the requirements of the agreement. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked who signed the termination letter. Ms. Whelan responded that she did not know off the 
top of her head.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated that it was the administrator, Steve Burroughs, who is no longer with EWD and in his 
opinion Mr. Burroughs was neither authorized to send the termination letter based upon the policies and 
procedures of EWD, nor did EWD publish a public agenda item for the termination of the agreement, nor 
did the EWD Board ever vote to terminate the agreement, so in his opinion the termination letter could be 
ruled “void ab initio” by a court because it violated the Sunshine Law. Ms. Whelan stated that WVID 
operates based on facts which are that it received a termination letter related to the EWD Agreement from 
EWD which was in compliance with the termination provisions of that agreement. She further stated that 
EWD’s counsel was copied on, and probably prepared the termination letter, and so EWD’s attorneys had 
oversight relative to EWD’s internal termination approval process. As a result, WVID doesn’t have a reason 

Page 15



 

Page 5 of 21 
 

to believe that a termination letter since in accordance with the requirements of the EWD Agreement that 
EWD counsel had oversight on violated any legal requirements.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated that District Counsel is responsible for reviewing everything that comes in for legitimacy. 
He stated that in his opinion it was not by pure happenstance that the letter was received from EWD on 
April 3, 2024, because he attended a meeting on April 2, 2024, as a resident of Gran Paradiso and a recipient 
of reclaimed water. Mr. Meisel further stated that at that meeting he informed EWD of the possible 
Sunshine Law violation. He stated that he feels that WVID has the opportunity to go back and amend the 
existing EWD Agreement to remove any committed capacity of water instead of entering into a new 
agreement with EWD.  
 

Mr. Lewis stated that the only person who has said that this is a possibility is John Meisel, and there is 
nothing in the letter from EWD proposing an amendment to the existing EWD Agreement which just 
terminated, and in the most recent letter from EWD the agency has again restated their position to terminate 
the existing EWD Agreement.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated that no one here had challenged the termination, nor was it challenged when the original 
letter was received. Mr. Lewis stated that was Mr. Meisel’s opinion that the termination was done 
improperly, but that this was not fact.  
 
Mr. Meisel asked if the WVID Board would support amending the existing EWD Agreement. Ms. Whelan 
stated that, for the avoidance of doubt, the April 3, 2024 letter from EWD in your agenda package very 
clearly states that EWD does not intend to amend the existing EWD Agreement, which is EWD’s legal 
right. So from WVID’s perspective, WVID has received both a 2019 letter of termination of the existing 
EWD Agreement as well as a 2024 confirmation of EWD’s intent to terminate the existing EWD Agreement 
and she is not aware of any correspondence to WVID to the contrary. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked whether it is incumbent on WVID, now that he has raised his concerns, to determine if 
there is any accuracy in his claims that the EWD Agreement was terminated improperly by EWD in an 
attempt to force EWD to perform pursuant to the existing EWD Agreement that just terminated. Chairman 
Luczynski stated that EWD had the right to terminate the existing EWD Agreement and it has previously 
stated and has stated in this recent letter that it would enter into a new supply agreement. However, EWD 
will not guarantee any reclaimed water and it will be sent to WVID when EWD has it available if WVID 
has the capacity to receive it. So, if Mr. Meisel thinks EWD will rescind its termination of the existing EWD 
Agreement, which has already gone into effect, and EWD would continue to give WVID water under that 
agreement he is fooling himself. EWD has already told WVID they do not desire to proceed in that manner. 
 
Chairman Luczynski asked Mr. Johanneman how much water EWD has provided WVID since the 
beginning of March 2024. Mr. Johanneman responded that zero flow had been received since the beginning 
of April. The last days of March resulted in only approximately 2,000 gallons for that period.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated that he had pictures of water flowing from what he thought was the EWD reclaimed water 
pipe for seven straight days in April. Mr. Johanneman stated that he had not seen the pictures that Mr. 
Meisel is referring to, but the meter reading coming from the EWD pipe has not registered any water flow 
since late March so perhaps Mr. Meisel was looking at the Sarasota County reclaimed water pipe. 
 
Chairman Luczynski asked Ms. Whelan if it would be appropriate to send the EWD attorney a letter asking 
him to confirm that the March 27, 2019, letter of termination of the EWD Agreement was done legally. Ms. 
Whelan stated she would be happy to do that at the direction of the Board.  
 

Page 16



 

Page 6 of 21 
 

Ms. Masney asked if WVID strategically would want to challenge EWD on whether it did something 
legally, which appears to have been the case, and then turn around and ask them to enter into a new supply 
agreement to provide WVID with reclaimed water. She stated that she does not want to have a letter written 
aggressively accusing EWD of illegal activity.  
 
Mr. Lewis stated that his understanding of the question was whether the person who signed the letter from 
EWD had the authorization to do so.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated he sent Ms. Whelan an e-mail on April 11th, not copying other Board Members because 
that would have been a violation of Sunshine Law, requesting counsel’s opinion if it is a potential conflict 
of interest if the landowner-elected Board members that are affiliated with Mattamy vote and approve upon 
anything associated with the master developer on the agenda presented today.  
 
Ms. Whelan explained, as discussed in Board meetings many times, special districts are established for the 
sole purpose of facilitating infrastructure development within the boundaries of the district and so these 
special districts are legislatively structured where there are landowner elections at the beginning of the 
district’s life cycle and that, commensurate with build-out of the development, the landowner elections 
transition to resident elections. Currently, WVID is in the early stages of development where the landowners 
are still primarily electing Supervisors to the Board, and the framework for the statutes contemplate this. 
She stated that this is how every residential special district in the state works- this is not just WVID. In 
contemplation of that legislatively authorized structure, there are provisions in the ethics laws that allow 
for Supervisors that sit in one-acre one-vote landowner-elected seats, which includes each of the 
Supervisors you have referenced that are employed by the master developer, to vote on matters that may 
have impacts on their employer, which is a landowner within the District, absent them receiving some 
personal benefit or bonus for voting on a particular item. Recall that this is because the entire purpose of 
this District is to fund infrastructure development for the benefit of the landowners which includes not only 
residents but also owners of undeveloped land within the District.  
 
Ms. Whelan stated that on this same topic, Mr. Meisel had previously filed ethics complaints against each 
of the Supervisors for voting on the irrigation ratemaking resolution that occurred in early 2023, alleging 
that those Supervisors were not permitted by the ethics laws to have voted on that resolution. The Florida 
Commission on Ethics investigated this allegation and, since our last Board meeting, found that each of 
those Supervisors had committed no violation of law.  
 

Mr. Meisel stated that at the January meeting he specifically asked Ms. Whelan who would draft the special 
act amendment legislation and her response was the lobbying consultant. Ms. Whelan responded correct, 
but note that her firm, as the special district subject matter expert, has to tell the lobbyists the parameters of 
what the legislation should say so generally we will prepare initial language and background information 
on the need for the changes, and will provide that to the lobbyists who actually tweak and wordsmith the 
language and put it in the form necessary to submit it to the legislators and the Legislature for consideration. 
If District staff doesn’t provide initial guidance, the lobbyists are essentially walking blind in drafting 
proposed legislation for the District which is not beneficial to the District in accomplishing its objectives. 
 
Mr. Meisel stated that in January he asked who would be drafting the legislation and Ms. Whelan responded 
that the lobbyists were. However, on December 20, 2023, Ms. Whelan sent a draft of the proposed legislative 
change to the lobbying consultant. Ms. Whelan stated, as she had just explained, the lobbyists rely on 
District staff to provide the context of the subject matter with which they are going to prepare and provide 
an ultimate bill that is utilized to lobby the Legislature, but they need to rely on her office to assist and tell 
them what the language in the bill should say. They have no independent insight into our election, eminent 
domain, or real property conveyance processes that the Board has authorized revising. 

Page 17



 

Page 7 of 21 
 

 
Mr. Meisel stated that Ms. Whelan’s response was that they had attorneys on staff that were versed in 
writing legislation. Ms. Whelan responded that as she has repeatedly stated, her office has to tell the 
lobbyists what the subject matter of the bill should state, but they are the ones that will ultimately finalize 
what we send, which is just a rough draft, and build it into the accepted bill drafting format that gets 
distributed to members of the Legislature, utilized in required reports, and ultimately filed with the 
Legislature. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked if her proposed legislative draft has recommended language for the statute. Ms. Whelan 
responded that as she has repeatedly explained to Mr. Meisel, her office’s role is to provide the 
recommended revised language to the lobbyists- who are not special district attorneys. Their expertise is 
lobbying and shepherding legislation based on the subject matter textual changes that WVID staff advises 
them of. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked why there was not a line item on any invoices from Kutak Rock for Ms. Whelan’s  
effort associated with drafting that legislation, and whether the time entry was redacted. 
 
Ms. Whelan responded that her invoices are summary in nature and there may be work conducted for the 
District for which an invoice has not yet been sent, and stated that redaction may occur for work that is done 
on behalf of the District if it just falls into a public records exemption category. For example, recently all 
documents distributed outside of staff have to be reviewed to see if there is any sensitive information relative 
to the three ongoing lawsuits that have been filed against the District. This is a time intensive and expensive 
process and the District is not only entitled by Florida Statutes to redact exempt or confidential information, 
but it actually has a duty and obligation to redact exempt or confidential information. 
 

Mr. Meisel asked if phone calls relative to the litigation are considered redactable. Ms. Whelan responded 
that it could be, depending on the specific circumstances. 
  
Mr. Meisel responded, if Ms. Whelan feels, in her opinion, that there is no conflict then the Board can 
proceed, however he personally believes there is a conflict not only because individual Supervisors are 
named in a motion filed by the Gran Paradiso Property Owners Association (GPPOA) to be added as 
defendants to the irrigation lawsuit, but also because now their employer is named. Mr. Meisel further 
inquired why Ms. Whelan did not send the ethics advisory opinion request even though the Board authorized 
her to do so at the March Board meeting. 
 
Ms. Whelan responded that she does not represent individual supervisors and so can’t advise them 
personally, but the fact remains that there is a provision in Florida law that allows landowner-elected 
supervisors to vote on things that may affect their employer or other landowners to which they are affiliated, 
and that the Florida Commission on Ethics has just recently investigated and found that the four Supervisors 
employed by the master developer did not violate the law when they voted to approve the irrigation 
ratemaking resolution back in April 2023, which ostensibly provides a benefit to their employer by 
readopting the well availability fee which is currently being collected and held in escrow. 
 
Ms. Whelan went on to state that in regard to the Board’s direction in March requesting that her office 
coordinate an advisory opinion as to whether there is a conflict of interest that exists relative to the 
landowner-elected Board members resulting from Thomas Ranch Intangibles’ and The Ranch Land 
Operations’ attempt to intervene in the GPPOA irrigation litigation, those entities have withdrawn their 
motion subsequent to the March Board meeting. In consultation with the Chairman, it was decided that this 
issue was now moot because Mr. Meisel’s allegation was that these two parties are adverse to the District 
by attempting to intervene in the litigation. Recall that as we discussed at the last meeting, their interests 

Page 18



 

Page 8 of 21 
 

are in reality aligned with the District’s in their desire to prohibit the relief that the GPPOA is requesting, 
but in any event those entities are no longer active participants in the current litigation. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked when the Board approves something, does the Chairman has the authority to overrule that 
direction. Ms. Whelan responded that the decision was made not to spend the time to prepare an advisory 
opinion request based on changed circumstances such as this that essentially made the request moot, and 
that it was planned for the matter to be discussed with the Board at this current meeting to receive further 
direction on whether the Board desired for her office to prepare and file an advisory opinion after the issue 
became moot. 
 
Mr. Meisel stated that now that Thomas Ranch Intangibles and The Ranch Land Operations have been 
named back in the lawsuit along with the other four Supervisors, including Ms. Whelan, he believes it is 
important that the District get that ethics advisory opinion addressed. Chairman Luczynski stated that in 
reference to Mr. Meisel’s statement, all that has been filed by the GPPOA is a motion requesting that the 
Court allow the GPPOA complaint to be amended to add additional parties. From his perspective he is 
trying to be a good steward of District resources and did not want the District to just keep running up their 
legal fees to seek guidance on a matter that was no longer relevant.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated that he respected the Chairman’s opinion on that, but that he desired to still seek an 
advisory opinion. 
 
Mr. Lewis asked if someone could remind him what the advisory opinion request exactly was.  
 
Ms. Whelan stated that at the March meeting Mr. Meisel suggested that the District seek advice from the 
Commission on Ethics as to whether the fact that Thomas Ranch Intangibles and The Ranch Land 
Operations were seeking to intervene in the GPPOA lawsuit- not suing the District as a defendant but 
technically aligned with the District in its attempt to have the Court not grant the GPPOA the relief it has 
requested in its litigation complaint- is a conflict of interest based on Mr. Meisel’s own prior 2023 
Commission on Ethics advisory opinion ruling that his actions serving on the GPPOA Board and District 
Board were a conflict of interest because of litigation between those two entities. 
 
Mr. Lewis inquired whether the conflict of interest related to voting on matters or a situational conflict of 
interest. Ms. Whelan responded situationally, whether there was any conflict of interest based on the 
existence of the master developer attempting to intervene in the GPPOA lawsuit. Mr. Meisel’s contention 
was that it was the same situation that the Commission on Ethics had previously ruled on in 2023 finding 
him in violation of the ethics laws, where he was serving as both a board member of the GPPOA and acting 
in an adverse capacity serving as an adverse witness against the District in a lawsuit filed by the GPPOA 
against the WVID that he was also serving on as a Supervisor. He was making the assertion that the master 
developer’s desire to intervene in the GPPOA lawsuit was a similar situation as his situation. 
 
Mr. Lewis stated he was perfectly fine with seeking an ethics advisory opinion so long as the circumstance 
actually exists. If we’re asking them to evaluate a conflict based on an intervention in a lawsuit and there is 
no intervention in the lawsuit, that is nonsensical. Mr. Lewis further stated that he thought that the 2023 
ethics complaint that Mr. Meisel filed against him, which he felt that Mr. Meisel totally mischaracterized 
in the newspaper, suggested that the Board determined that the irrigation agreements had no benefit to the 
master developer, but he believed nothing could have been further from the truth. He stated that the 
Commission on Ethics investigator specifically asked him whether the agreements had some benefit to the 
master developer and he had responded to the investigator in the affirmative. He felt the four Supervisors 
were allowed to vote based on the exemption and the law for one-acre one-vote Board seats. That was the 
issue, not whether it benefited the developer, but whether it was proper to vote and the Commission on 

Page 19



 

Page 9 of 21 
 

Ethics determined that it was proper to vote on the 2023 irrigation ratemaking resolution because that is 
what the law allows. Nothing being discussed at the meeting today, from his perspective, was any different 
than that 2023 vote. The complaints were filed with the Commission on Ethics, an investigation occurred, 
and a ruling was issued by the Commission that it was okay for them to have voted on that resolution. 
Having said all of that, he never minds asking somebody to give confirmation that the Supervisors are doing 
the right thing and was not generally opposed to that so long as it was situationally appropriate.  
 
Chairman Luczynski commented that in his opinion the District should seek an ethics advisory opinion only 
if the Court accepts the new filing because the last time Mr. Meisel tried to get the Court to amend the 
GPPOA complaint, the Court threw it out.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated that in the absence of waiting on the Court to rule on the GPPOA motion to amend its 
complaint, he would file another ethics complaint against the landowner-elected Supervisors because he 
felt that there was a conflict of interest that existed. He stated that he did not want to have to file that ethics 
complaint because he thought it might be easier if the Board received an advisory opinion now on the topic. 
 
Ms. Whelan stated, just to clarify again, for the record to avoid misstatements of fact, the master developer 
has not filed suit against the District. The only lawsuits that the District has been a party to in recent history 
were filed by 1) the GPPOA relative to the District’s irrigation program, 2) Mr. O’Sullivan and related 
resident parties’ relative to the District’s assessments, and 3) Mr. Fernstrum relative to the District’s 
urbanization calculation. The master developer has not filed a lawsuit or sought to recover any relief against 
the District in court. The master developer’s desired intervention in the litigation does not mean that they 
filed suit against the District, it is instead their attempt to participate in the litigation to achieve essentially 
the same objective against the GPPOA as the District is seeking. If Thomas Ranch Intangibles and The 
Ranch Land Operations are brought in to the GPPOA lawsuit, whether by their own request to intervene or 
by the GPPOA being allowed to expand the scope of their current litigation to name those entities as 
defendants, they would be adverse to the GPPOA not the District. The District and these entities would 
essentially be co-defendants, both on the same side of the litigation. Both the master developer’s and the 
District’s litigation interests are aligned and if you look at the pleadings from the intervention motions, the 
arguments that these entities were making were essentially the same arguments that the District was making. 
 
I. UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 1 
 
 1.  Consider Change Order No. 7 between the District and DeMoya, Inc. for Wellen Park 
Boulevard Roundabout and US 41/State Road 45 Improvement Project 
 
Mr. Licari presented Change Order No. 7, which increases the contract in the amount of $113,000. This 
change order is due to stormwater drainage structure considerations that were missing in the original bid 
documents for this project. This roundabout project is located in front of Wellen Park Boulevard.  
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Mr. Buckley and passed unanimously approving 
Change Order No. 7 between the District and DeMoya, Inc. for the Wellen Park Boulevard Roundabout 
and US 41/State Road 45 Improvement Project in the amount of $113,000, as presented. 
 

2.  Consider Change Order No. 8 between the District and DeMoya, Inc. for Wellen Park 
Boulevard Roundabout and US 41/State Road 45 Improvement Project 
 
Mr. Licari presented Change Order No. 8, which increases the contract in the amount of $156,406.82. This 
change order relates to labor increases from Change Order No.7 and additional project labor costs.  
 

Page 20



 

Page 10 of 21 
 

A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Mr. Buckley and passed unanimously approving 
Change Order No. 8 between the District and DeMoya, Inc. for the Wellen Park Boulevard Roundabout 
and US 41/State Road 45 Improvement Project in the amount of $156,406.82, as presented.  
 
 3.  Consider Fifth Amendment to Agreement between the District and BrightView Landscape 
Services, Inc. Regarding the Provision of Landscape and Irrigation Maintenance Services 
 
Mr. Johanneman presented the Fifth Amendment to the BrightView Landscape Maintenance contract 
related to the inclusion of the Mezzo and Merlot roadways. The contract amendment adds the maintenance 
of these roadways to the existing annual contract in the amount of $156,060.00 per year. The District will 
issue a new request for proposals in 2026 unless the District decides to go out for RFP sooner. The current 
prequalified contractors for landscape maintenance are Brightview and Juniper.  
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Buckley, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously approving the 
Fifth Amendment to the Agreement between the District and BrightView Landscape Services, Inc. 
regarding the provision of landscape and irrigation maintenance services for the Mezzo and Merlot 
roadways in the amount of $156,060, annually, as presented. 
 
J. UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 3 
 
Mr. Meisel inquired why the rate study public hearing was referenced under Unit 3.  Ms. Whelan stated 
that, as has been discussed at prior Board meetings, this matter is considered under Unit 3 as it was 
necessitated by the irrigation litigation filed by the GPPOA.  
 
Ms. Whelan stated that by way of background for members of the public in attendance, the District is 
involved with active litigation with the GPPOA relative to the District’s irrigation program, including 
components of its rates, and as a result of that litigation the District issued an RFP about this time last year 
for an independent utility rate consultant to prepare a new rate study for the District to provide a review and 
recommendation relating to its current irrigation rates. The Board unanimously selected GovRates, Inc. to 
prepare that rate study for the District, tasking it to look at both the existing rates as well as the structure to 
determine what recommendations should be made for changes, if any.  
 
At the October 2023 Board meeting, GovRates presented its preliminary methodology and solicited some 
feedback from the Board on several key components regarding imposition of irrigation fees relative to 
District common areas, for example, that would affect the final methodology. As announced at the February 
2024 Board meeting, District staff has also since held a number of public presentations to educate the 
community on the District’s irrigation program and proposed 2024 irrigation rates. District staff first held 
a general overview meeting on the District’s master irrigation program on March 5, 2024, and then held a 
2024 rate study presentation meeting on March 21, 2024, both of which allowed for community Q&A after 
the presentations which were afterwards posted on the District’s website.  
 
District staff has also held a number of private Zoom meetings with leadership of community property 
owner and homeowners’ associations (HOAs), which are the District’s customers, to review the 2024 rate 
study and its findings and to discuss any potential impacts on HOA budgets that may occur if the proposed 
2024 irrigation rates were approved by the Board.  
 
Finally, at its March 2024 meeting, the Board directed staff to set a public hearing for today’s date to allow 
GovRates to present its final rate study findings and to take public comment after which the Board can 
consider whether it wants to adopt those recommended revised irrigation rates. 
 

Page 21



 

Page 11 of 21 
 

With respect to the process we’re about to undertake, first GovRates will provide their presentation and 
we’d ask that all Supervisors hold their questions to the end of the presentation. After that time, we’ll take 
public comments on irrigation matters and open the floor back up to Supervisor discussion before 
addressing Resolution 2024-13, which in part implements the recommended 2024 irrigation rates based on 
the GovRates rate study report and recommendation. 
 
 1.  Presentation by GovRates Regarding Irrigation Water Rate Study 
 
Mr. Bryan Mantz of GovRates, Inc., irrigation rate consultant to the District, explained that as a result of 
the public outreach meetings, GovRates, Inc. worked to improve the presentation in response to some of 
the resident feedback that was received at those meetings. He then provided a detailed PowerPoint 
explaining how the proposed irrigation rates were determined and components of the proposed revised rate 
structure. He discussed the two different pricing strategies of irrigation utilities 1) pricing irrigation water 
lower than potable water to encourage use of non-potable water sources, and 2) pricing reclaimed water at 
the same price as potable water. 
 
He stated that the current irrigation program is on a path to bankruptcy if rates are not right-sized, as well 
as the recent 31% inflationary consumer price index (CPI) increases that have occurred since the original 
2018 rate study was prepared. Mr. Mantz stressed the importance of eventually eliminating master 
developer deficit funding for capital and operational costs in order to ensure that the governmental utility 
becomes self-sustainable in the future. 
 
Mr. Mantz additionally noted that the scope of his services did not include recommendations relative to the 
well availability fee as that rate is contractually agreed upon based on an agreement with the master 
developer and the District, but that factually the effective rate of the well availability fee results in a cost to 
the District of $1.39/gallon at a usage of 3,000 gpd and $0.42/gallon at a usage of 10,000 gpd which 
compares to the City of North Port potable water rate of 10.13/gallon per 10,000 gpd. He also noted that 
the City of Altamonte Springs charges a standby or availability reclaimed water charge of $5.53 that is 
$1.36 higher than the $4.17/ERU well availability fee currently being charged by WVID. 
 
Mr. Mantz further recommended automatic rate indexing for certain rate structure components which is a 
recognized industry best practice, based on increases in the local Tampa-St. Petersburg-Clearwater CPI. He 
recommended that the rate study be revisited on an annual basis in order to account for actual operations 
and development growth since the District is in a period of rapid development activities. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked during the PowerPoint presentation why GovRates used a 15,000 gpd usage amount per 
home. Mr. Mantz explained there were some communities that were currently using 15,000 gpd or have 
historically used 15,000 gpd according to the historical billing statistics. Mr. Mantz continued his 
presentation. 
 
Mr. Meisel noted during the PowerPoint presentation that he did not feel that looking at the cost of reclaimed 
water versus the cost of potable water is a good comparison and that Mr. Mantz was wasting everyone’s 
time. Mr. Mantz responded that when determining irrigation water rates, it was appropriate to compare 
those rates to other available water source costs to, in part, determine reasonableness of the rate. In the 
District’s case, when it runs out of reclaimed water, stormwater, and groundwater provided by the master 
developer, its only other available source is potable water. He further noted that groundwater is the last 
source of water that should be utilized, and so if groundwater is not available the next available alternative 
is potable water. 

 

Page 22



 

Page 12 of 21 
 

Mr. Meisel made a comment during the PowerPoint presentation that Mr. Mantz should skip certain slides 
and stated that this presentation was a waste of his time. 
 
Chairman Luczynski asked for everyone to please allow the presentation to continue uninterrupted.  
 
Mr. Mantz continued and concluded his presentation. The 2024 irrigation rate study presentation 
PowerPoint is available on the District’s website for review.  
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney opening the Public Hearing. That 
MOTION carried on a vote of 4 to 1 with Mr. Meisel dissenting. 
 
 2.  Public Hearing 
  a.  Proof of Publication 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed the notice of the Public Hearing had been published in 
the Sarasota Herald-Tribune on March 29, 2024. 
 
  b.  Receive Public Comment  
 
Lisa Mustapich commented that she did not understand in the presentation why JEA irrigation water rates 
were used as an example because JEA does not provide water to the District. She stated residents that 
purchased homes from M/I Homes were not informed of the District’s deficit spending when purchasing 
their homes and that in her opinion, if Mattamy is running a deficit they should seize development until a 
profit is able to be generated. She stated that it felt like the irrigation rate increase is retaliation for the 
GPPOA litigation and that the consultant was hired by the Board who is elected by the master developer so 
she isn’t surprised that there is a proposed increase. She finally stated that the cost of irrigation infrastructure 
should come out of Mattamy’s pocket, not from the individual residents.  
 
Steve Mango commented that he was concerned about tax increases over the last few years and that he 
cannot justify a 45% increase. He stated that everyone needs to pay their fair share, but he does not feel that 
45% is justifiable.  
 
An unidentified resident noted that the 100-year agreement has no benefit to WVID and should not have 
been signed because WVID is on the 50-year water use permit and has rights to the groundwater, and the 
master developer was compensated with its ability to develop land. He stated that well permits cost $4,500, 
not counting operating costs. He noted that the well availably fee is collected by the District and then passed 
through to the master developer and that these irrigation fees are not known by residents when they buy a 
home. He stated that he desires for WVID to cancel the well availability supply agreement with the master 
developer. 
 
Jay Alvord stated that comparisons in the rate study are not “apples to apples” and explained the process of 
turnover of the GPPOA board and his understanding of the history of the District’s irrigation agreements. 
He further stated that in his opinion the master developer funded the campaign of current North Port City 
Commissioners and noted that the District tried to have the GPPOA execute a deed for the real property that 
the Gran Paradiso wells are located on that the District operates. 
 
Pam Kantola stated the deficit spending is a listing of infrastructure for other developments in the District 
and if you remove those line items there is no deficit. She stated that Gran Paradiso pays the bulk of 
infrastructure for other communities in the District and that since Gran Paradiso residents paid $1.4 million 
for irrigation infrastructure through their Unit 3 bonds they should not have to contribute to the development 

Page 23



 

Page 13 of 21 
 

of irrigation infrastructure in other communities. She went on to state that Gran Paradiso fees went up 2%, 
Gran Paradiso insurance has gone down 1%, and the WVID Board is trying to stick a 45% increase down 
resident throats for irrigation water. In addition, she stated that the rate study also compares irrigation water 
costs to potable water costs, which means we are going to take our drinking water and water our lawns 
which she feels is not realistic so it is not an “apples to apples” comparison. She stated that she also felt that 
the rate study incorporates the well availably fee into the irrigation rate addressed in the study and that Judge 
Carroll called this rate palpably obscene. She stated that the four Board members in landowner-elected seats 
should recuse themselves from voting on this rate increase because it will directly benefit their employer, 
Mattamy Homes, and not the residents they are supposed to represent.  
 
Victor Dobrin asked the Board to recuse themselves from voting on the rate study and stated that the former 
rate study did not include any new bonds or any new charges for the homeowner. In his opinion, because 
the master developer develops the land and is expanding the system, it should bear the cost of that. He stated 
that he does not approve of the well availability and that in his opinion GovRates did exactly what Judge 
Carroll said not to do- increase costs by 5.5% or inflation or whichever is greater. He noted that Social 
Security does not increase 5.5% or inflation, whatever is greater. He desires for the District to negotiate for 
purchased water and cap increases at 3%. He further stated that Gran Paradiso purchased an irrigation pipe 
for $1 Million and later sold it back to EWD for $170,000.  
 
Rich Bando thanked Supervisor Meisel and the President of the GPPOA for their efforts on the recent 
rejection of the 150-foot monopole cell tower next to Gran Paradiso. He stated that he was on record since 
2016 about water conservation, which needs to be looked at. In his opinion, better due diligence is needed 
on this study, and better planning. He stated that if water conservation is implemented WVID will reduce 
its water usage and the irrigation prices. He urged the Board to not vote for this increase and to do something 
in the area of conservation instead of just talking about it.  
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously closing the Public 
Hearing. 
 
  c.  Consider Resolution No. 2024-13 – Adopting 2024 Irrigation Rate Study, 2024 Irrigation 
Rates and Related Matters 
 
Resolution No. 2024-13 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-13 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT MAKING 
CERTAIN FINDINGS; APPROVING, RATIFYING, AND 
CONFIRMING EXISTING IRRIGATION RATES ADOPTED IN 
PRIOR IRRIGATION RATE ADOPTION RESOLUTIONS AND THE 
PRIOR IMPOSITION AND COLLECTION THEREOF; ADOPTING 
AN IRRIGATION QUALITY WATER RATEMAKING STUDY; 
APPROVING NEW IRRIGATION QUALITY WATER RATES, 
FEES, AND CHARGES PURSUANT TO SUCH STUDY; 
AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING DISTRICT STAFF TO 
CONTINUE ESCROWING A PORTION OF THE NEW IRRIGATION 
QUALITY WATER RATES, FEES, AND CHARGES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

Page 24



 

Page 14 of 21 
 

 
Ms. Whelan explained that the resolution in the Board agenda package does the following: 

 Ratifies the prior imposition and collection of the current irrigation rates by the District; 
 Adopts the 2024 irrigation rate study; 
 Approves the 2024 irrigation rates in conformance with the 2024 irrigation rate study; 
 Approves the imposition of the 2024 irrigation rates commencing July 1, 2024; and 
 Requires District staff to continue to escrow the portion of the 2024 irrigation rates relating to the 

well availability fee until there is further direction from the Board to continue the remittance of 
such payments. 

 
Mr. Meisel stated that he agreed with some of the public speakers. He indicated that the majority of this 
presentation was nothing, in his opinion, but the narrative of staff and the master developer. He inquired 
why the supporting documents around the finances were not made available until the rate study was 
included in the agenda package posted on the District’s website. Mr. Mantz explained that the report was 
not written until after the public outreach meetings occurred and that those figures were still under 
development in the rate structure until after those meetings occurred in March. Mr. Meisel stated that in 
his opinion the public outreach meetings did not satisfy the community outreach component of his contract. 
 
Mr. Meisel inquired as to where GovRates received the data regarding $750,000 of FY 22/23 and FY 23/24 
legal expenses that is referenced in the rate study. Mr. Mantz responded that the data came from the 
District’s adopted FY 24 budget and that the legal fees in the rate study were classified as assessment 
revenue, but were also an offset in this study.  
 
There was heated debate between the Supervisors. Several members of the audience violated the public 
decorum policy at this time. Chairman Luczynski called for a five-minute recess of the meeting and the 
Board concurred.  
 
The meeting was recessed for 5 minutes at 12:00 p.m.  
 
The meeting was reconvened at 12:06 p.m. 
 
Mr. Meisel commented that the District, by statute, is not required to provide irrigation water and if the 
master developer wants to have irrigation provided he was not sure why residents were paying for that in 
future developments. He further inquired as to why the water usage by the District itself, for its own 
properties, was listed in the rate study as being estimated at 114,000,000 gallons annually. Mr. Licari 
responded that the District’s common area usage was not metered since previously the District did not pay 
for its own use of irrigation water as that would be a pass-through to residents. 
 
Chairman Luczynski clarified that the system had everything metered in totality but that the original setup 
of the irrigation program was to not charge the District for irrigation water so there were no break-off points 
metered for District common areas, but obviously the system does have all communities metered. He stated 
that based on Board direction at the October 2023 Board meeting, GovRates has built in the cost of common 
area irrigation use and there is likely a need to have meters installed.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated that his point was that every withdrawal point is supposed to be metered, whether it be 
surface body water or groundwater, which includes every Primary Irrigation Lake and every well, so that 
WVID is invoicing against every single community based upon that withdrawal. Chairman Luczynski 
responded there was a difference between the total amount pumped and what is invoiced to customers.  
 

Page 25



 

Page 15 of 21 
 

Mr. Meisel stated that he did not care how much was going on each individual street, but that he wanted 
the District’s common area usage to be a science and not an estimate. Chairman Luczynski stated the 
calculation is the total withdraw of water, minus what is delivered to each community, and the difference 
is the usage by the District.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated his point is it should not be an estimate if you have total withdrawals. If the total 
withdrawals equal a billion gallons and the District’s accounting for 114 million gpd of that, then the 
District’s usage should not be an estimate. Chairman Luczynski stated the 114 million gpd was the 2023 
number and the rate study was using that as the estimate for 2024 since it’s prudent to use the historical 
data to estimate usage going forward. He indicated that Gran Paradiso was using 800,000 to 1,000,000 gpd 
when the allowable gpd for Gran Paradiso per the Southwest Florida Water Management District 
(SWFWMD) standards is 588,000 gpd, and when Mr. Bando talks about conservation, that is what he is 
saying- we need to get consumption down. Chairman Luczynski stressed the need for communities, 
including Gran Paradiso, to get into compliance with the SWFWMD permit.  
  
Mr. Meisel asked how the well availability was calculated. Mr. Mantz responded that his understanding 
was that the previous 2018 rate study assumed a usage of 10,000 gallons applied to an assumed usage with 
the bulk reclaimed water rate for the City of North Port. 
 
Mr. Meisel stated that North Port, at the time, charged $0.21. Mr. Mantz responded that this was incorrect 
and that at the time of adoption of the 2018 irrigation rate study, there was no City of North Port bulk 
reclaimed water rate that had been adopted and so, to estimate what a future City of North Port bulk 
reclaimed water rate would be, he believed the 2018 study used the average of two other reclaimed water 
utility providers.  
 
Mr. Meisel inquired if the 2018 irrigation rate study took that estimated rate per 1,000 gpd and they 
multiplied it by 10,000 gpd to come up with the $4.17 per 10,000 gpd. Mr. Mantz responded that is his 
understanding of how the rate was calculated by Stantec in 2018.  
  
Mr. Meisel stated that the ERU structure requires that we are paying $4.17 per month on an ERU basis for 
every user, which is now approximately 5,900 users, as if we were getting 100% of our water from the 
wells. Mr. Meisel asked Mr. Johanneman if the District is currently blending the well water. Mr. 
Johanneman responded that it was blended with reclaimed water and stormwater and stored in lakes 
because some well water has high salinity levels and could damage the plant material.  
 
Mr. Meisel asked if the District could pump directly from the wells if the lakes were dry. Mr. Johanneman 
responded that there was not enough groundwater available at present. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked if you could use all of the well water if there was enough available. Mr. Johanneman 
responded that the well water would still likely have to be blended because of the salinity. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked what the average usage is for each ERU. Mr. Mantz responded that some communities 
are using less than 10,000 gpd, some are using 15,000 gpd, and he believed one community used 19,000 
gpd per year during the last year.  
 
Mr. Meisel asked whether the ERUs should be tied to actual usage and consistent with the average user’s 
usage amount. Mr. Mantz responded that there is no legal requirement to tie an ERU to actual usage and 
that there were franchise fees and like the City of Altamonte Spring bulk reclaimed water rate that is not 
tied to usage.  
 

Page 26



 

Page 16 of 21 
 

Chairman Luczynski commented that one of the variances of an average ERU was the different land plans. 
Land plans differ greatly, which will affect how much is used per user. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked who gave GovRates the development growth data for the District and inquired as to why 
there was ERU growth shown for Gran Paradiso. Mr. Mantz indicated that all raw data came from District 
staff. Chairman Luczynski stated this was likely the ten acres inside Gran Paradiso owned by Lennar or the 
commercial area within Village A, which Gran Paradiso is included within. 
 
Mr. Meisel responded that the rate study identified 140 single family homes being added to the growth 
model for Gran Paradiso. Mr. Lewis asked if it was identified as specifically within Gran Paradiso, not as 
Unit 2 or Village A which includes more than just Gran Paradiso? 
 
Mr. Meisel stated that he recalled that it was identified as Gran Paradiso specifically as GovRates had it 
broken down by community and that the growth projections made him question the validity of the rate 
study. He further stated that given the fact that Gran Paradiso residents have paid several million dollars in 
Unit 3 bonds towards their irrigation infrastructure, he doesn’t feel that it’s fair that they’re burdened for 
new infrastructure when the GPPOA/WVID irrigation supply agreement from 2009 says that the District 
is not permitted to charge them for infrastructure for other areas of communities. He stated that he realized 
Mr. Mantz was not an attorney, but as a consultant, in his opinion GovRates should have been looking to 
revise the structure of the irrigation program because, to Mattamy and the current Board’s defense, they 
came in after implementation of the original irrigation system in Gran Paradiso and inherited some 
“stepchildren” as a result.  
 
Mr. Meisel inquired with Mr. Mantz as to whether he was aware that homebuilders in the community were 
charging irrigation connection fees to hook up the residential lots to the internal HOA-operated irrigation 
system. Chairman Luczynski stated that these fees were not charged by and did not come to the District, 
and that instead it’s a fee charged by a homebuilder to connect residential lots to receive irrigation water 
from their HOA. Chairman Luczynski stated that he felt that Mr. Meisel’s question was conflating the 
discussion. 
 
Mr. Meisel stated that before the Board adopts an irrigation rate study that is flawed in his opinion, and 
given the fact there’s open litigation relative to the District’s irrigation program, he believes the Board 
should delay approving the new rates for 30 days after which he believes that the “dust will settle.” 
  
Mr. Lewis asked Mr. Meisel what “dust would settle” within the next 30 days. Mr. Meisel stated there was 
a court hearing set for May 1, 2024 at which the GPPOA’s motion to amend its complaint to add the 
Mattamy-employed Board Supervisors and others will be heard.  
 
Ms. Whelan stated that she desired to clarify factually inaccurate information and noted that the May 1st 
hearing related to the GPPOA irrigation litigation is a motion to compel the GPPOA to comply with the 
District’s discovery requests. The District has requested discovery from the GPPOA many months ago 
relative to the irrigation litigation and has not yet received an adequate response to its discovery requests, 
contrary to the requirements of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. As a result, that hearing is to compel 
the GPPOA to provide discovery to the District per the requirements of standard litigation practice. It has 
nothing to do with the irrigation rates or anything being discussed at this meeting.  
 
Mr. Meisel again stated that he did not like the comparison of potable water versus the District’s irrigation 
water rates and that in his opinion the cost of developing master irrigation infrastructure should be included 
in the cost of developing the land. Mr. Meisel then stated that if he does not file a lawsuit on the 2024 
irrigation rates, somebody else will. 

Page 27



 

Page 17 of 21 
 

 
Mr. Lewis asked Mr. Mantz if he could again show the Board the portion of the presentation that addressed 
the proposed irrigation rates and where that would put WVID in the marketplace, and asked Mr. Mantz to 
also clarify what the next best alternative to groundwater is because one thing he thought was important to 
note is that Gran Paradiso residents seem to think they are captive to this agreement and rates. He recalled 
that Mr. Mantz stated there are theoretically willing buyers and sellers of groundwater, and Gran Paradiso 
has taken the position that it does not have a valid irrigation in place with the District at present. He inquired 
why if the GPPOA felt that the rates were not reasonable and that they have other sources of irrigation 
water available, do they not drop out of the District’s irrigation program and go their own way and find 
their own sources. Mr. Mantz reviewed the portion of his presentation which showed that WVID’s 
proposed irrigation latest are neither the highest or lowest rates of the survey of irrigation providers. 
 
Chairman Luczynski commented that five years ago EWD provided notice of its intent to terminate the 
EWD Agreement with the District. Typically, you do not get money back after investing in an infrastructure 
improvement that is no longer utilized, but in this case the District was able to negotiate with EWD and 
other private developers within EWD’s service area to obtain approximately $170,000 back from EWD, 
which is now sitting in the construction fund in Unit 3. That EWD reclaimed line today provides zero 
irrigation water and historically it provided a good percentage of the irrigation water in Gran Paradiso. 
Further, in 2018 the District spent $589,000 to construct an irrigation transmission line to extend Sarasota 
County’s existing reclaimed water line further down US 41 and into Gran Paradiso. For eight months last 
year, Sarasota County pumped zero gallons of reclaimed water through that line. All of that water comes 
into Primary Irrigation Lake No. 3 for use in supplying irrigation water to Gran Paradiso. Now there is zero 
flow from EWD and the flow from Sarasota County through the reclaimed water line constructed in 2018 
accounts for roughly 17% of the community’s irrigation needs. The additional irrigation water needed to 
supply 83% of Gran Paradiso’s supply comes from either groundwater wells or potable water.  
 
Chairman Luczynski went on to state that, to Supervisor Lewis’s point which he has shared with GPPOA 
President Victor Dobrin, if Gran Paradiso wants out of the system then it needs to send a letter to the 
District requesting to be released from their supply agreement with the District. He stated that he was 
confident that this Board would entertain that request.  
 
Mr. Meisel stated that he feels the additional source of water should come from Primary Irrigation Lake 
#1.  Chairman Luczynski stated that Primary Irrigation Lake #1 is owned by the District and is sourced 
with reclaimed water provided by the City of North Port. He further stated that if Mr. Meisel was saying 
that Gran Paradiso should have a pro rata share of the reclaimed water that is coming to the District from 
the City of North Port, that means that Gran Paradiso has to be part of the Unit 6 and included in the 
District’s overall master irrigation system, because you cannot pick and choose to only be part of the system 
of improvements when it is convenient.  
 
Mr. Lewis noted that under the current irrigation rate methodology the irrigation rates are $12.86 per month 
and the proposed rates under the 2024 irrigation rate methodology are $15.82 to $17.82 depending on the 
category of end users, with Gran Paradiso being categorized in as a $17.82 per month end user. He stated 
that the PowerPoint chart is instructive of where the District is in the larger market, but in the universe of 
Southwest Florida jurisdictions, the District is in the heart of the market- not the lowest, but not the highest 
either. He further stated that he believes when you take the position that residents are radically overcharged 
then that suggests that there is a more cost-effective alternative, but in this situation there is not a more 
cost-effective alternative. Instead, the only alternative for the District to make up its irrigation supply short-
falls in reclaimed water and stormwater is to use either groundwater or potable water in the event that 
groundwater is not available. He stated that the cost of potable water is dramatically more expensive than 
the present well availability fee per usage.  

Page 28



 

Page 18 of 21 
 

 
He stated that there does have to be willing sellers and buyers for any commodity and if Gran Paradiso 
says they cannot stand $17.82 a month and do not need any water from the District, and Mr. Meisel tells 
them there’s tons of water available from sources other than the District then Gran Paradiso can go buy it 
from EWD or Sarasota County, or can go find their own sources. Gran Paradiso can get its own water use 
permit and if the GPPOA recommends that to the WVID Board it will be happy to consider that request.  
 
Mr. Lewis further stated that these proposed irrigation rates are the District’s recommended rates prepared 
by an independent utility rate consultant who was approved unanimously by the Board, including Mr. 
Meisel, last year and that from everything he sees in the GovRates presentation the proposed irrigation 
rates appear to be within the range of reasonableness. He additionally stated that one of the things discussed 
by the Board at the time of engaging GovRates in 2023 is that the Board agreed that Mr. Mantz was an 
expert in this field, not the Board members or residents, and that if the District was going to procure a rate 
study prepared by a professional utility rate consultant then it needed to ultimately rely upon and follow 
what the expert recommends that the District do because that is the whole purpose of hiring a consultant. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked how many of the entities used for irrigation rate comparisons were pure distributors. Mr. 
Mantz responded that the District is the only pure distributor included in his irrigation rate comparison but 
that it doesn’t mean other pure distributors don’t exist that he’s not aware of. 
 
Mr. Meisel asked where Mr. Mantz obtained his comparison irrigation rates for other irrigation utility 
providers. Mr. Mantz responded that he got the comparison rates from the providers’ adopted rate 
resolutions. 
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Meisel tabling the vote on the irrigation rate resolution until the May 
meeting. The MOTION failed for lack of a second.  
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney adopting Resolution No. 2024-13 – 
Adopting 2024 Irrigation Rate Study, 2024 Irrigation Rates and Related Matters, as presented.  
 
Mr. Meisel then tried to amend the MOTION on the floor by Mr. Lewis, after his initial motion failed for 
a lack of a second. It was discussed that, procedurally, that was not permitted because he was not the maker 
of the motion and Mr. Lewis declined to amend his motion. 
 
The MOTION to adopt Resolution No. 2024-13 – Adopting 2024 Irrigation Rate Study, 2024 Irrigation 
Rates and Related Matters, as presented, carried on a vote of 4 to 1 with Mr. Meisel dissenting. 
 
Chairman Luczynski noted that the irrigation rates as just approved result in a 30% increase this year and 
that the original 2018 irrigation rate study contemplated an annual rate increase of 5.5% which had only 
occurred twice since 2018. He stated that if you do the math, 55% of this increase should have occurred 
over the past couple of years but it was not, and that was perhaps a mistake the Board made by not 
increasing rates more gradually, but the Board cannot just keep “kicking the can down the road.”   
 
Chairman Luczynski asked Mr. Mantz when his rate study puts the District at operational break even, not 
including capital improvements. Mr. Mantz explained that the rate study he performed is projected to now 
capture all the necessary operating expenses in 2025. Any capital funding issues should be addressed in a 
future study. 
 
K. UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 6 

Page 29



 

Page 19 of 21 
 

 
 1.  Consider Agreement with AMC Contracting, Inc. for Irrigation Connection Infrastructure 
Construction Services 
 
Mr. Johanneman explained that this agreement is for irrigation connection infrastructure construction 
services for the installation of an irrigation line to provide service to Village I, which is the planned Palmera 
community, and that the total cost of these services is $158,153. 
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Buckley, seconded by Chairman Luczynski and passed unanimously 
approving the Agreement with AMC Contracting, Inc. for irrigation connection infrastructure construction 
services in the amount of $158,153, as presented. 
 
L. UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 10 
 
 1.  Consider Supplemental Assessment Methodology 
 
Ms. Whelan explained that the District was pursuing an issuance of bonds for Unit of Development No. 10,  
which is presently undeveloped and that no current residents living in the District are going to be subject to 
these assessments. The final Supplemental Assessment Methodology, which was approved in preliminary 
form with estimated anticipated numbers at the March meeting, is now in final form reflecting the final 
terms of the bonds. 
 
Mr. Karmeris of Special District Services presented the Supplemental Assessment Methodology and 
presented the exhibit tables of the report. The final bond sizing is $19,280,000 with an interest rate of 5.53%. 
Mr. Karmeris stated that the assessments were fairly and reasonably allocated to the benefitted properties 
based on the final sizing of the bonds.  
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Mr. Buckley and passed unanimously approving the 
final Supplemental Assessment Methodology, as presented. 
 
 2.  Consider Resolution No. 2024-14 – Supplemental Assessment Resolution  
 
Resolution No. 2024-14 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-14 
 

UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 10, SERIES 2024 BONDS 
 

(ASSESSMENT AREA ONE PROJECT) 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT SETTING 
FORTH THE SPECIFIC TERMS OF THE DISTRICT’S CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 
REVENUE BONDS (UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 10), SERIES 2024 (ASSESSMENT 
AREA ONE); CONFIRMING THE DISTRICT’S PROVISION OF INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS AND CONFIRMING A MASTER ENGINEER’S REPORT; 
CONFIRMING AND ADOPTING A SUPPLEMENTAL ASSESSMENT REPORT; 
CONFIRMING, ALLOCATING AND AUTHORIZING THE COLLECTION OF 
SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS SECURING SERIES 2024 BONDS; PROVIDING FOR THE 
SUPPLEMENT TO THE IMPROVEMENT LIEN BOOK; PROVIDING FOR THE 

Page 30



 

Page 20 of 21 
 

RECORDING OF A NOTICE OF SERIES 2024 SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
Ms. Whelan explained that this supplemental assessment resolution imposes the lien for the Series 2024 
Bonds, consistent with the master lien, on the lands in Assessment Area One in Unit 10. She stated that the 
resolution is consistent with the final Supplemental Assessment Methodology just adopted.  
 
A MOTION was made by Mr. Lewis, seconded by Ms. Masney and passed unanimously adopting 
Resolution No. 2024-14, as presented. 
 
M. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 
 1.  District Engineer 
 
Mr. Licari reported that the Playmore Road resurfacing project would begin on April 15, 2024. The 
IslandWalk, Sunstone and Solstice communities were contacted and provided the project schedule to share 
with their residents. 
 
Chairman Luczynski inquired as to whether there should be crosswalks across Preto Boulevard for the 
Sunstone and Wysteria projects. Mr. Licari stated that he would inspect the area.  
 
Ms. Masney commented that directional line striping should also be considered for that intersection in order 
to also help aid drivers.  
 
 2.  District Attorney 
 
Ms. Whelan stated that much of her planned GPPOA irrigation litigation updates were previously discussed 
earlier in the Board meeting and that there was no update to report on the urbanization litigation. 
 

She stated that with respect to the assessment litigation, and similar to the GPPOA irrigation litigation, 
WVID previously served discovery requests on the plaintiffs that has not been complied with in accordance 
with Florida Rules of Civil Procedure and so a hearing to compel the plaintiffs to comply with the District’s 
discovery requests is set for June 18th at 11:30 AM.  
 
Ms. Whelan further reported that pursuant to Resolutions 2023-13, 2023-14, 2023-15, and 2023-16, the 
Board previously voted to approve the identification of supervisors Buckley, Luczynski, Masney, and Lewis 
relative to administrative ethics complaints that were filed against them relating to an asserted violation of 
the law with respect to the approval of an irrigation ratemaking resolution back in 2023. Since public funds 
were utilized for the Board members’ defense she wanted to report for the benefit of the public that in March 
2024 the Commission on Ethics found no probable cause of a violation of the law, meaning that the 
Commission found that the Supervisors at issue did not violate the law by voting to adopt that resolution. 
Chairman Luczynski asked how much has been spent on that defense. Lindsay Whelan stated that she did 
not have that number handy, but was happy to have District staff track that number down and report it at 
the April Board meeting.  
 
 3.  District Operations’ Manager 
 
Mr. Johanneman reported that all repairs were completed on District owned improvements at the entrance 
to Gran Paradiso relating to monuments, the entry guardhouse, and entry gates.  

Page 31



 

Page 21 of 21 
 

 
 4.  District Manager 
 
Mr. Crosley noted that the next meeting was scheduled for May 9, 2024. He also reminded the Board that 
the June meeting was now scheduled for Friday, June 14, 2024, at 10:00 a.m. 
 
N. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no further comments from the Board Members. 
 
O. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the Regular Board Meeting was adjourned at 
1:00 p.m. on a MOTION made by Mr. Buckley, seconded by Mr. Lewis and passed unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________  ______________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chair/Vice Chair 

Page 32



Publication Date
2024-04-26

Subcategory
Miscellaneous Notices

NOTICE OF THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
ATTORNEY-CLIENT SESSION
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the West Villages Improvement District (the District) will hold an attorney-client
session of its Board of Supervisors (the Board) at the Board meeting on May 9, 2024, at 10:00 a.m. at
Chambers of the City of North Port located at 4970 City Hall Boulevard, North Port, Florida 34286. The
attorney-client session may be continued to a date, time and place approved by the Board on the record
without additional publication of notice.
The attorney-client session, which is closed to the public, will be held to discuss settlement negotiations or
strategy sessions related to litigation expenditures. This meeting is being held pursuant to Section 286.011(8),
Florida Statutes. The following persons are anticipated to be in attendance at the attorney-client session: each
of the Districts Board Supervisors who are not otherwise con�icted from such attendance, District Manager
William Crosley, District Counsel Lindsay Whelan and Joseph Brown, and a court reporter. The attorney-client
session is expected to begin after the commencement of the regularly-scheduled Board meeting and to last
approximately thirty (30) minutes. During the attorney-client session the individuals identi�ed above will meet
in private. Upon conclusion of the attorney-client session, the public will be invited into the Board meeting, and
the Board meeting will continue to consider any business of the District.
District Manager
WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
www.westvillagesid.org

Page 33



EJCDC® C-941, Change Order. 
Prepared and published 2013 by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee.   

Page 1 of 1 
 

 Change Order No. 9 

Date of Issuance:  Effective Date:  
Owner: West Villages Improvement District Owner's Contract No.: N/A 
Contractor: The deMoya Group, Inc.  N/A 
Engineer: Dewberry Engineers, Inc. Engineer's Project No.: N/A 
Project: Wellen Park Blvd. Roundabout & US 41/SR 45 

Improvements Project 
Contract Name: N/A 

The Contract is  modified as follows upon execution of this Change Order: 

Description:   Updated Quantity for MES, Detectable Warnings.  
 
Attachments:  de Moya Group Request for Change Order #9.  
 

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES  
[note changes in Milestones if applicable] 

Original Contract Price: Original Contract Times:  
Substantial Completion: 540 days 

$9,305,602.04 Ready for Final Payment:  570 days 
 days or dates 

[Increase] [Decrease]  from previously approved 
Change Orders No.   8   to No.  9    : 

[Increase] [Decrease] from previously approved Change 
Orders No.    8  to No. 9     : 
Substantial Completion:  20 days  

$156,406.82 Ready for Final Payment:  20 days 
  
 days 

Contract Price prior to this Change Order: Contract Times prior to this Change Order: 
Substantial Completion:  714 days  

$10,846,534.83 Ready for Final Payment:  744 days  
 days or dates 

[Increase] [Decrease] of this Change Order (circle 
one): 

[Increase] [Decrease] of this Change Order: 

Substantial Completion:  0 days  
$16,500.00 Ready for Final Payment:  0 days  

  
 days or dates 

Contract Price incorporating this Change Order: Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: 
Substantial Completion:  714 days  

$10,863,034.83 Ready for Final Payment:  744 days  
 days or dates 

RECOMMENDED:           RECOMMENDED: ACCEPTED: 
By:  By:  By:  

            Engineer   Construction Manager              Contractor 

Title:  Title:  Title:  
Date:  Date:   Date:  

APPROVED BY OWNER:  

By:      

Title:    Chairman, Board of Supervisors   
Date: ____________________________________________________ 

Page 34



Request for Change Order
The de Moya Group, Inc.
14600 SW 136th Street

Miami, FL 33186

RCO Date: 4/19/2024
RCO #: 9

Project Name: WELLEN PARK VILLAGE D ROUNDABOUT
Reason/Description: 1) Owner Request to add color to the Roundabout Apron Pavement

2) Quanity Reconciliation on MES 

Pay Item# Description Quantity UOM Unit Price Total
VILLAGE D MISCELLANOUS ITEMS -$                                  

0430-984-629 MITERED END SECTION, OPTIONAL - ELLIPICAL/ARCH, 24" SD 1 EA 3,900.00$                   3,900.00$                         
0527-2 DETECTABLE WARNINGS 350 SF 36.00$                        12,600.00$                       

NET CHANGE: 16,500.00$                       
These changes will Add (0) Days to the Construction Schedule

Qualifications/Exclusions:
1 Proposal valid for 30 days
2
3

We agree to the work of this RCO proposal and this work is hereby incorporated into the
scope of work of the contract and The de Moya Group can proceed with this work accordingly.  Further,
we agree that The de Moya Group will be paid for this work in the pay period the work is performed and
there is no further approvals necessary which may delay payment.  For all intents
and purposes and upon signature below, this document is a change order to the contract.

Agreed to:

BY:

Title: Date:_____________________

Page 35



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST 
VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT PROVIDING FOR THE 
DEFENSE AND INDEMNIFICATION OF A DISTRICT STAFF MEMBER; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the West Villages Improvement District (“District”) is a local unit of special 
purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of Florida, as 
amended; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the District has previously adopted 
Resolution 2016-08 (the “Resolution”) providing for the defense and indemnification of Board 
members, officers, employees, and staff of the District pursuant to the terms thereof; and 
 
 WHEREAS, District Counsel Lindsay Whelan (“District Counsel”) received notice on 
April 10, 2024 of that certain Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Complaint (the “Motion”) 
filed in the Twelfth Judicial Circuit Court (the “Court”) relative to ongoing Case No. 2022-CA-
005368-SC to which the District is a named defendant (hereinafter, the “GPPOA Litigation”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Motion requests the Court to allow the complaint relative to the GPPOA 
Litigation (the “Complaint”) to be amended in order to add Lindsay Whelan as a named defendant 
in her individual, personal capacity, alleging violations of law with respect to actions taken in her 
role as District Counsel, including but not limited to policy decisions related to the District’s 
operation of its irrigation utility, attempt to modify its enabling legislation, and other matters 
ancillary thereto all of which are within the scope of the District Counsel’s office; and 
 

WHEREAS, in compliance with the Resolution, within fourteen (14) calendar days after 
actual receipt of notice of the Motion, Lindsay Whelan has provided the District with a copy of 
the Motion and a written request for defense and indemnification by the District; and 
  
 WHEREAS, Lindsay Whelan has denied the allegations and conclusions in the Motion. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 SECTION 1. Pursuant to the Resolution and in reliance of the recitals above, the Board 
hereby determines that the District shall provide defense and indemnification to Lindsay Whelan 
in relation to the Motion, including but not limited to defense of the Motion, defense of the 
Complaint, as may be amended as requested by the Motion, and the pursuance of any claims or 
counterclaims against parties that may be available at law or equity relative to the plaintiffs’ filing 
of the Motion, all subject to the terms and conditions of the Resolution. 
 

Page 36



2 
 

 SECTION 2.  The District shall retain the firm of Stearns Weaver Miller Weissler Alhadeff 
& Sitterson, P.A. as legal counsel for Lindsay Whelan, subject to approval of the terms and 
conditions of a Fee Agreement as negotiated and finalized by District Counsel. Following approval 
by District Counsel, the Chairman of the Board is authorized to execute the Fee Agreement. If an 
agreement cannot be reached, District Counsel shall negotiate and finalize a Fee Agreement with 
an alternative legal counsel with significant experience in the subject matter at issue. The Chairman 
of the Board is authorized to execute the Fee Agreement with the alternative legal counsel. The 
provision of legal counsel by the District to Lindsay Whelan shall be subject to the terms and 
conditions of the Resolution.  
 
 SECTION 3.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 9th day of May, 2024. 
 
ATTEST:     WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 
       DISTRICT 
 
 
 
_____________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
   
  
 
 

Page 37



Kutak Rock LLP
107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, Florida 32301

office 850.692.7300

Lindsay Whelan
850.692.7300

lindsay.whelan@kutakrock.com

April 16, 2024

Via U.S. Mail and Electronic Mail
Attn: Keith R. Ledford, Jr.
Interim Administrator of Englewood Water District
201 Selma Avenue
Englewood, Florida 34223
kledford@englewoodwater.com

Re: Englewood Water District Letter of Termination re: West Villages Improvement 
District

Dear Mr. Ledford:

My firm serves as counsel to the West Villages Improvement District ( as you 
know is a special purpose unit of local government that operates and maintains public infrastructure 
improvements including master irrigation improvements within the Wellen Park development located in 
the City of North Port, Sarasota County, Florida. On March 27, 2019, Ray Burroughs, in his capacity as 

EWD sent a letter to WVID
notifying it of EWD at certain Interlocal Agreement Delivery and Use of Reclaimed 
Water for 
reference.

At the request of the Board of Supervisors of WVID, please confirm that Mr. Burroughs was 
authorized to send the Notice to WVID and to accordingly terminate the Agreement on EWD

WVID appreciates your cooperation in this matter and looks forward to continued discussions with 
EWD regarding the provision of reclaimed water to WVID and its customers in the future. 

Sincerely,

Lindsay Whelan
District Counsel

Enclosure

cc (by e-mail): William Crosley, District Manager
John Luczynski, Chairman, Board of Supervisors
Robert Berntsson, EWD Counsel

Page 38



Page 39



WIDEIKIS, BENEDICT & BERNTSSON, LLC
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

April 30, 2024 
 

Via U.S. Mail and Electronic Mail 
Lindsay Whelan 
Kutak Rock LLP 
107 West College Avenue 
Tallahassee, FL 32301  

 
Re: Your letter of April 16, 2024 

Dear Ms. Whelan: 

The Englewood Water District (EWD) is in receipt of the letter referenced above.  The EWD Board of 
Supervisors were made aware of the letter being sent by Mr. Burroughs as part of the ongoing process to update 
the wastewater treatment plant permit.  Meeting minutes from November 1, 2018 and March 7, 2019 
(enclosed) show the presentation of issues related to the permit renewal.  Additionally, the letter was 
specifically discussed at the November 7, 2019 Board meeting (minutes enclosed).  The Supervisors were well 

synopsis of 
that discussion is also provided herein and the recorded meeting is available upon request. 

EWD looks forward to entering into a new agreement with your clients to address their reuse needs. 

       Very truly yours, 

       Robert H. Berntsson 
       Robert H. Berntsson 

 
Cc (by e-mail): Keith R. Ledford, Jr., P.E., Englewood Water District Interim Administrator 

  William Crosley, District Manager 
  John Luczynski, Chairman, Board of Supervisors 

 

JOHN L. WIDEIKIS 
ROBERT C. BENEDICT 
ROBERT H. BERNTSSON*^ 

  
3195 S. ACCESS ROAD 
ENGLEWOOD, FLORIDA 34224 
PHONE:(941)627-1000 
Reply to this office location  
EMAIL: rberntsson@BigWLaw.com 

THE BIG W LAW FIRM 
 

ATTORNEYS AT LAW 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PORT CHARLOTTE, FLORIDA 
NORTH PORT, FLORIDA 
BY APPOINTMENT ONLY 
 
 
333 PARK AVENUE, UNIT 2A 
P.O. BOX 483 
BOCA GRANDE, FLORIDA 33921 
PHONE 941)964-1223 
 
*Certified by the Florida Bar in City, 
County and Local Government Law 
2000-2021;  
^Also admitted to New York Bar 
 

Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 52



 Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION 2024-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST 
VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT RATIFYING, CONFIRMING, 
AND APPROVING THE ISSUANCE OF THE WEST VILLAGES 
IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT REVENUE 
BONDS (UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 10), SERIES 2024 
(ASSESSMENT AREA ONE); RATIFYING, CONFIRMING, AND 
APPROVING THE ACTIONS OF THE CHAIRMAN, VICE CHAIRMAN, 
TREASURER, SECRETARY, ASSISTANT SECRETARIES, AND ALL 
DISTRICT STAFF REGARDING THE ISSUANCE AND CLOSING OF 
THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT REVENUE BONDS (UNIT OF DEVELOPMENT NO. 
10), SERIES 2024 (ASSESSMENT AREA ONE); DETERMINING SUCH 
ACTIONS AS BEING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
AUTHORIZATION GRANTED BY THE BOARD; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
 WHEREAS, the West Villages Improvement District (the “District”), is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 2004-456, Laws of 
Florida, as amended (the “Act”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District previously adopted resolutions authorizing the issuance of 
bonds within the scope of the Act, including $19,280,000 West Villages Improvement District 
Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds (Unit of Development No. 10), Series 2024 (Assessment 
Area One) (the “Series 2024 Bonds”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District closed on the issuance of the Series 2024 Bonds on April 25, 
2024; and 

 
WHEREAS, as prerequisites to the issuance of the Series 2024 Bonds, the Chairman, 

Vice Chairman, Treasurer, Assistant Secretaries, and District Staff including the District 
Manager, Financial Advisor, Bond Counsel and District Counsel were required to execute 
and/or deliver various documents (the “Closing Documents”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District desires to ratify, confirm, and approve all actions of the 
District Chairman, Vice Chairman, Treasurer, Assistant Secretaries, and District Staff in closing 
the sale of the Series 2024 Bonds. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT: 

 
 SECTION 1. The issuance and closing of the Series 2024 Bonds is in the best interests 
of the District. 

Page 53



 Page 2 of 2 

 
SECTION 2. The issuance of the Series 2024 Bonds, the adoption of resolutions 

relating to such bonds, and all actions taken in the furtherance of the closing on such bonds, are 
hereby declared and affirmed as being in the best interests of the District and are hereby ratified, 
approved, and confirmed. 
 
 SECTION 3. The actions of the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Treasurer, Secretary, 
Assistant Secretaries, and all District Staff in finalizing the closing and issuance of the Series 
2024 Bonds, including the execution and delivery of the Closing Documents, and such other 
certifications or other documents required for the closing on the Series 2024 Bonds, are 
determined to be in accordance with the prior authorizations of the Board and are hereby 
ratified, approved, and confirmed in all respects. 
 
 SECTION 4.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 5. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain 
in effect unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 9th day of May 2024. 
 
 
ATTEST:     WEST VILLAGES IMPROVEMENT 

DISTRICT  
 
 
_____________________________  ________________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary  Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 

Page 54



To: Contact:West Villages Improvement District Giacomo Licari

Wellen Park- Playmore Road ResurfacingProject Name: Bid Number: LT23-077

Fax: 561-630-4923Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410

Address: 2501 Burns Road, Suite A Phone: 561-630-4922

Project Location: Venice, FL Bid Date: 4/22/2024

Total PriceUnit PriceUnitItem DescriptionItem # Estimated Quantity

01 0.00 LS $0.00 $0.00***Change Order #1***
02 1.00 LS $3,860.00 $3,860.00Flowable Fill- Between Existing Asphalt & New Curb
03 1.00 LS $7,085.00 $7,085.00Finish Grade
04 200.00 CY $21.60 $4,320.00Place & Compact Top Soil (Material Provided By Ranch)
05 1,700.00 SY $5.75 $9,775.00Sod Other Areas

Total Bid Price: $25,040.00

Notes:
• This Proposal includes ONLY those items and services specifically described above.
• Asphalt overruns due to pre-existing conditions, including soft base, subgrade or base tolerance will be invoiced at unit prices.
• Prices on this quotation are based on construction prior to June 30, 2024.  Any construction after this date will be subject to increased prices of

labor, materials and supplies.
• Payment shall be based upon actual field measured quantities.
• Acceptance of this proposal confirms agreement with and incorporation of the standard terms of contract of Ajax Paving Industries of Florida, LLC.

This proposal is binding on customer when signed and transmitted to Ajax by mail, PDF, or facsimile.
• The prices on this quotation are firm for 30 days from the date of this quote.
• This Proposal is based on 1 Mobilization.  Additional Mobilizations will require negotiation of price.

ACCEPTED:

The above prices, specifications and conditions are satisfactory and
are hereby accepted.

Buyer:

Signature:

Date of Acceptance:

CONFIRMED:

Ajax Paving Industries Of Florida, LLC

Authorized Signature:

Estimator: Lauren Taylor

941-486-3600   ltaylor@ajaxpaving.com

4/22/2024 10:06:53 AM Page 1 of 1

Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Kutak Rock LLP
107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707

office 850.692.7300

MEMORANDUM

TO: District Managers and Secretaries

FROM: Kutak Rock LLP

DATE: March 25, 2024

RE: Public Records 

Recently, we have seen some confusion regarding who is the person ultimately responsible for the 

The purpose of this memorandum is to clarify the roles of the person(s) responsible for maintaining 

a designee under section 119.011(5), Florida Statutes, and b) the Secretary to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer under section 257.36(5)(a), Florida Statutes.  

It is important to note the distinction between the Secretary and the Records Management Liaison 
Officer.  While the Records Management Liaison Officer has some duties related to public records, the 
Records Management Liaison Officer reports to the Secretary, and the Secretary has the ultimate 

Records Custodian
Rule 1.1(2) of the standard Rules of Procedure provided by Kutak Rock provides that the Secretary is 

ecords.  The Secretary is often an employee of the district 
manager, but sometimes it can be a board member or another person.  

Public Records of a District to be an elected or appointed officer charged with the responsibility of 
maintaining the office having public records, or his or her designee.  Because the Custodian of Public 
Records must be an elected or appointed officer, a district management company cannot be designated 
as a Custodian of Public Records.  Further, should the Secretary designate someone else under section 
119.011(5), F.S., such a designation may not relieve the Secretary of the statutory obligation and so 
such designations should be carefully considered.  With that said, it may make sense for the Secretary 
to appoint a designee to be listed as the Custodian of Public Records in standard contract language 
designed to direct public records requests to the appropriate employee of the district manager.  

Records Management Liaison Officer

ords 

provides:  

Page 58



2

appoint a Records Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate 
State of Florida agencies.  A Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the 

have the individual power to remove the Records Management Liaison Officer at any time for 
any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation of a Records Management 

Management Liaison Officer.
SECTION 2.  The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the 

following:
A.
Archives of Florida; and
B. ory; and
C. maintain records retention and disposition forms; and
D. coordinate District records management training; and
E. develop records management procedures consistent with the below Records Retention 
Policy, as amended; and
F. participate in the dev
keeping systems; and
G. submit annual compliance statements; and
H. work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to 
establish individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be 
necessary; and
I.
in the future.

Form and Process
Historically, there has not been a formal process to document the Secret

Liaison Officer to the Board.  To remedy this, we have provided a simple form for the Secretary to 
complete which is attached as Exhibit A hereto. We recommend the following below process.

Records Custodian
1. The Secretary identifies if there is a need to appoint a designee under section 

119.011(5), F.S., and if so, who that designee should be.
2. If there is a need, the Secretary completes the first paragraph of Exhibit A and fills in 

the name of the designee in the second paragraph of Exhibit A.
3.

report as an informational item only, as no Board vote is required. 
4. The same process is completed each time a designee is removed or replaced.

Records Management Liaison Officer
1. The Secretary identifies the person who will be appointed the Records Management 

Liaison Officer under section 257.36(5)(a), F.S.
2. The Secretary completes the first paragraph of Exhibit A and fills in the name of the 

Records Management Liaison Officer in the third paragraph of Exhibit A. 

Page 59



3

3.
report as an informational item only, as no Board vote is required. 

4. The same process is completed each time a Records Management Liaison Officer is 
removed or replaced.

Please contact us with any questions.  

Page 60



Page 61


	West Villages Improvement District - May 9, 2024 Regular Board Meeting Book 
	Agenda - Audit Committee Meeting
	Proof of Publication
	Consider Approval of RFP Documents

	Agenda - Regular Board Meeting
	Proof of Publication
	Discussion Regarding Public Decorum at Board Meetings
	Approval of Minutes
	March 5, 2024 Master Irrigation Presentation Workshop Minutes
	March 21, 2024 2024 Irrigation Rate Study Workshop Minutes
	April 11, 2024 Regular Board Meeting & Public Hearing Minutes

	Attorney-Client Session Relative to Litigation
	Unit of Development 1
	Consider Approval of Change Order No. 9 between the District and the Demoya Inc. for Wellen Park Blvd Roundabout and US 41/State Road 45 Improvement Project 


	Unit of Development 3
	Consider Resolution 2024-15 – Indemnifying District Counsel Whelan Regarding Irrigation Lawsuit
	Discussion Regarding Letter to/from Englewood Water District Regarding Termination of Reclaimed Water Agreement 


	Unit of Development 10
	Consider Resolution 2024-16 – Ratifying Series 2024 Bonds

	Administrative Matters
	District Engineer
	Consider Approval of Change Order No. 1 between the District and Ajax Paving for Claymore Road Resurfacing Project

	District Manager
	Records Management Memo and Form for Approval







